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Tuesday, 3 December 2019
(10.30 am)
(Proceedings delayed)
(10.55 am)
Housekeeping
THE PRESIDENT: We are aware of the technical problem with
the transcription and we will consider in a moment what
we should do about that as we don't want to lose much
more time. There is a bit of flexibility but it has
limits.

We did think it is worth coming in in any event
because there are a couple of matters we wanted to
mention at the outset.

First of all the matter of Suez and the pleadings in
Suez. Ms Demetriou, as we understand it from a letter
we have received from your solicitors, your application
to amend the claim form, particulars of claim, is now
agreed; is that right?

MS DEMETRIOU: That is right.

THE PRESIDENT: That has been ironed out. So in the light
of that we give permission to make those amendments.
I think the version in the bundle is without those
amendments, I believe.

MS DEMETRIOU: That's correct.

THE PRESIDENT: So perhaps tomorrow when we are not sitting
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there could be substituted the version which can be

served also later today or tomorrow.

MS DEMETRIOU: We will do that.

THE PRESIDENT: And I think the defence in the Suez case is

a draft defence anticipating as it were those amendments
and if a defence -- I don't know if it needs separate
service. The defence will be in the form of a draft,

I think. But if a formalised defence could also please
be substituted tomorrow by the defendants in the Suez
case and we hope as tomorrow is a non-sitting day it
shouldn't present a problem.

The next matter is the timetable for this hearing.
Thank you all for your skeleton arguments which we have
read and appreciate. We note how the defendants have,
as it were, divided out the recitals for comment between
them to avoid overlap. There is, of course, overlap
perhaps inevitably on other matters that we have to deal
with. That is to say on the case on the binding nature
of recitals and abuse of process. But we hope and trust
that when it comes to oral submissions you have agreed
who will make the submissions on each side on those
matters so that, for example, on the binding nature of
recitals there will be one counsel speaking for the
defendants plus DAF separately because DAF takes

a slightly different position, and when it comes to
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abuse of process again there will be one counsel
speaking on abuse of process and that we don't need to
hear from more.

There has been some correspondence about the order
for this hearing. The members of the Tribunal have had
some further discussions about that this morning and we
think on reflection that we would like to revise the
order that was previously suggested to have the
claimants' submissions on general principles and abuse
of process first and not specific recitals, so the
general principles under both heads and then the
defendants' submissions under both heads and then
replies which we think can be accommodated in Days 1 and
2, and to leave Day 3 to go through the individual
recitals which we think once the general principles have
been fully explored should be for the most part
a reasonably rapid exercise because the observations
made on the recitals very much reflect what is being
said about general principles.

In following that approach it would mean that today
we will hear the claimants' submissions as general
principles on the binding nature of recitals first, we
would not then go into the detailed recitals but go on
to the claimants' submissions on abuse of process and to

conclude that by 3.30, and then have 45 minutes for the
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defendants' submissions on general principles on the
binding nature of recitals starting today, continuing
tomorrow morning, then the defendants' submissions on
abuse of process -- not tomorrow, sorry, Wednesday --
Thursday. Day after tomorrow. Thursday.

And to conclude by 3 o'clock on Thursday, leaving 45
minutes for replies, 3 o'clock -- sorry, leaving one
hour and a quarter for replies on Thursday, and then
Friday for going through the recitals. We hope that
doesn't cause any inconvenience in particular to counsel
who is going to start on the general principles of the
binding nature of recitals later this afternoon.

I don't know if that is Ms Bacon or Mr Beard, I don't

know which of you is going to go first.

MR BEARD: The intention is I will focus on case law and

THE

obviously DAF's position in relation to it and then
Ms Bacon is going to pick up on the issues to do with
that case law and the essential basis material.
PRESIDENT: I am sure you will be quite capable of
addressing us for 45 minutes this afternoon.

So that is the course we would like to follow. Now
we would at that point wish to begin. Where are we on
the Opus position? It is now working? Yes, it is
coming up here, in which case we can start.

Mr Brealey.
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Submissions by MR BREALEY

MR BREALEY: As you are aware, I appear for Ryder and Hill

Hire with Mr Spitz. Can I dispense with the cast.

I think you have got it there.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, we have a cast list.

MR BREALEY: You will note that Mr Beard QC has replaced

Mr Pickford, Ms Ford QC has replaced Mr Hoskins,
otherwise everyone is the same.

On the claimants' side there is a division of
labour. I shall open the case and deal with the law on
the binding nature of the recitals. Ms Demetriou will
deal with the law and abuse of process. She will have
to follow me today. Mr Ward will tackle the individual
recitals. So I'm binding nature of recitals,

Ms Demetriou is abuse, Mr Ward will tackle the
individual recitals.

Before we get to the law, can we put the preliminary
issue into context. I think we can't do it in a wvacuum.
And to do that could I go to our skeleton argument.

That is at bundle E, tab 2. Bundle E, tab 2. Our

skeleton. Just to put this in context and then we will
go to the decision as well. Tab 2 and paragraph 2 sets
out the preliminary issue. The actual order is at

bundle C, tab 48, but for convenience paragraph 2,

page 3 sets out the preliminary issue and Jjust to note
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in passing we are concerned with sections 3, 4 and 7.
That is the first line. We are concerned with sections
3, 4 and 7 of the decision. That is the preliminary
issue.

Can I then go to paragraph 10 of the skeleton. That
sets out article 1, all the defendants accept that
article 1 is binding. That is not much of a concession
because obviously they are bound by article 288 of the
treaty. But if we go over the page --

PRESIDENT: Sorry to interrupt you. When you say
article 1 alone, I thought it was accepted that all the

operative part is binding?

MR BREALEY: I think they do but for the purpose of

liability they are concerned with article 1 here.
I will let the defendants speak for themselves. But
certainly article 1 they accept is binding.

Over the page, now we are coming to the crux of the
preliminary issue. This paragraph sets out what the
defendants accept is binding as regards the recitals.
So you will see there are only seven recitals they
accept are binding and that only in part. So it is an
extremely narrow approach to what is binding in this
decision and before we get to the law I would just like
to put this in context.

We see at paragraph 12 the skeleton may accept in
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part recital 68, 69, 71, 78, 81, 85 and 88. To put it
in context, could I note recital 81. Recital 81, 1if we
go to common bundle F with the decision, that is the
outer ring of authorities, recital 81 is at page 18 of
the decision.

So recital 81 we see is in section 4, the legal
assessment. So legal assessment and then in the third
section "Restriction of competition", recital 81 on
page 18.

They accept the first sentence is binding:

"The anti-competitive behaviour described in
paragraphs 49 to 60 above has the object of restricting
competition in the EEA-wide market."

The rest of the recital is not accepted as binding,
so that recital, the conduct is characterised by the
coordination between addressees which were competitors,
gross prices, directly and through the exchange of
planned gross price increases, limitation and timing of
the introduction of technology, complying with new
emission standards, and sharing other commercially
sensitive information such as order intake and delivery
times, price being one of the main instruments of
competition, the various arrangements and mechanisms
adopted, but the addressees were all ultimately aimed at

restricting price competition within article 101 of the
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treaty.

So we see that only the first sentence is binding,
so they could in principle deny that they were
competitors, they could in principle deny that they
exchanged future gross price increases, they could in
principle deny a factual finding relevant to object
infringement; that is behaviour that was aimed at
restricting price competition.

But the narrowness goes much further than that
because they accept that the first sentence is binding,
save recitals 49 to 60.

So we get to the rather Kafkaesque situation, the
defendants accept that behaviour is binding, but not
what the behaviour actually was.

We see this because recitals 49 to 60, if one goes
back, is essentially at section 3, page 11, the
description of the conduct. So none of this is regarded
as binding by the addressees.

PRESIDENT: Well, a little bit. I thought, I know you
show it, or maybe it is -- I thought that, although it
is not in your list in paragraph 12, I thought that

certain aspects of recitals 49 and 50 are accepted.

MR BREALEY: They are admitted but not regarded as binding.

THE

PRESIDENT: I see.

MR BREALEY: So if we can just tease that question out
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a little bit more, let's see what the defendants'
approach means in principle and then what in practice.
If one goes, for example, to recital 52 on page 12,
I will just read 52:

"The following examples of meeting ..."
PRESIDENT: I don't think you need read out. We have
all read the decision carefully. If you direct us to
the recital, if you want us to re-read it quickly to
ourselves, we can do that. It is probably quicker,

isn't 1it?

MR BREALEY: 10 seconds.

PRESIDENT: Yes. (Pause) .

MR BREALEY: So what it means in principle, it means in

principle they can deny a meeting took place on

17 January 1997. It means they can deny that future
price lists were discussed, as found by the Commission.
It means they can deny that a meeting took place on

6 April. It means that they can deny that they
discussed additional charges for euro 3. All that is up
for grabs, in principle, in domestic litigation.

To tease this out a little bit more, what this means
in practice -- because the preliminary issue seeks to
ascertain also what recitals are admitted, could we go
to the composite schedule. This is in various places,

but it is in tab 9 of the skeleton bundle. I don't know
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if you

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: So keeping on paragraph recital 52, if one goes
to page 8, for the purpose of this litigation let's see
what is being said.

THE PRESIDENT: This is about recital 527

MR BREALEY: Recital 52 on page 8 of the composite schedule.
This is tab 9 of the skeleton bundle.

THE PRESIDENT: Page 7 on the one -- do you mean at tab 9 or
do you mean the one that I think is attached to your
skeleton?

HODGE MALEK: There is a big one.

MR BREALEY: There is quite a few.

THE PRESIDENT: Just to clear it up, we have at tab 9, which
may be too far away for you to see it, "Extracted
submissions on individual recitals ...". That is our
tab 9. We also have at the end of your skeleton --

MR BREALEY: So that is in my tab 10. Have you got the

colour one? Whichever -- it could be attached to the --
THE PRESIDENT: As long as -- I just want to make sure we
have -- we are on the same page. And then we have a one

that is in landscape format.
MR BREALEY: Yes.
THE PRESIDENT: With blue colouring at the top.

MR BREALEY: Yes.

10
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THE PRESIDENT: Is that the one you mean?

MR BREALEY: Yes, the one that was attached to the skeleton
was at the bundle page 38. That was updated and
inserted at the end of the skeleton bundle.

HODGE MALEK: I have one headed "Composite schedule ..."
updated 29 November. That is what I am working from.

MR BREALEY: Okay. And that is in my bundle, tab 9 of the
skeleton. It is the same document but it has been
updated.

THE PRESIDENT: We have got it now.

MR BREALEY: Really we just go to recital 52 and we can note
recital 52.

THE PRESIDENT: Just a moment. 52, yes.

MR BREALEY: So it is the recital is set out and one sees
actually there are -- it is set out in six paragraphs.
It is split up into the sentences.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: So we see there that actually they all admit
that the meetings took place. Daimler admits the
recital, although we know it says it is not binding.
But if we look at the fourth paragraph, for example:

"The evidence demonstrates that future gross list
price changes were discussed."
That is on the left-hand side. You can put numbers

1-6 down.
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just putting this in context. The fourth paragraph:

"The evidence demonstrates that future gross list
price changes were discussed."

Daimler admits that. But if you look, for example,
at DAF, DAF the fourth sentence is not admitted, so they
are putting the claimants to proof. We can discuss at
another time actually whether they can just not admit
it, but they are at the moment not admitting it. Iveco
the same, they admit the meetings took place but they
are not admitting essentially what the discussions were
about.

Volvo don't admit it either, and you see MAN two
thirds of the way down, the fourth sentence is not
admitted, third and fourth sentence is not admitted. So
that is the position for the domestic litigation.

Recital 52 is not regarded as binding and for the
most part what was found by the Commission to have been
discussed is also not admitted.

One sees in the response on binding, that is the
fourth column, not a central basis, and the defendants
refer to paragraph 4 of the preamble to 5 February and
actually this is a neat summary of the defendants' case.

We see it in the skeleton. I will articulate it later
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on. But it is actually quite a neat summary of the
defendants' case as to why these recitals are not
binding and for me if one is looking at this composite
schedule, it is attached to this composite schedule and
is at page 30 of tab 9, bundle E. It is headed:

"Annex 1. The preamble to 5 February ..."

So this is a document that they refer to in the
schedule as to why it is not binding. And just to flag,
given the time I will not read it, I mean, it may be the
Tribunal can just skim paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 in order
just to emphasise the implications of it.

So paragraph 3 of this document is essentially
floating DAF's very extreme submission that no recitals
are binding. Paragraph 4 reflects the defendants' only
marginally less extreme submission that those recitals
in 4 (a) are binding, and we see in 4 (b) the defendants
stating that no part of section 3, that is the
behaviour, is binding, and for completeness I refer the
Tribunal to paragraph 5:

"Any acceptance by the Addressee Defendants in the
table below that a recital constitutes part of the
essential basis is to be read subject to the
following ..."

And if one looks at (e):

"Where a recital which cross-refers to other

13
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recitals is accepted as comprising part of the essential
basis, the cross-referenced recitals are not thereby
accepted as ... essential ..."

And that is where you see the recital 81. So that
is how they get to recital 81. They say the first
sentence is binding but not the paragraphs which
actually particularise the behaviour.

So that is the battleground between the parties. We
submit that the defendants' statement does not represent
the law and that is what I'm going to try and do in
probably now an hour and I will set out the relevant
legal principles relating to the binding nature of
recitals and I will do this by reference to going to
certain cases.

The first case I would like to go to, please, is the
Enron Coal case. That is the Court of Appeal judgment,
and that is authority bundle 2, tab 27. I know many of
these cases will be familiar to the Tribunal. Given the
time I'm not going to go through the facts in any
detail. I want to tease out the various propositions
I get from the cases. It is authority bundle 2, tab 27.

Essentially paragraphs 1 to 3 set out what the case
was about, paragraphs 1 to 3, what was a follow-on
action for damages following on from the Rail

Regulator's decision, its dominant position. The

14
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claimants failed because they failed to prove causation.

But I want to emphasise certain paragraphs and, as

I say, tease out propositions I get from the judgment.

The next paragraph to go to is paragraphs 33 and 34,

page 8. To remind ourselves, this was the old

section 47A. It has now been replaced. 47A(9) has been

replaced:
"In determining a claim to which this section

applies the Tribunal is bound by any decision mentioned

in subsection (6) which establishes that the prohibition

in question has been infringed."

In that case it was the Rail Regulator, but (6) does

refer to Commission decisions.
If one then goes to paragraph 39, just to note
because the defendants make something of this, the case

also concerns section 58, where the findings of fact by

the UK authorities are binding. That is not relevant in

this litigation, but what is relevant is paragraph 50
and 53, and these are the key paragraphs we rely on as
authority for the binding nature of recitals. This is
the Court of Appeal setting out what it regards as the
reason why certain recitals are binding.

Could I ask the Tribunal to read carefully
paragraph 50 and 53 and then I will emphasise certain

propositions that I get from paragraph 50 and 53.

15
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THE PRESIDENT: Yes. (Pause) .

MR BREALEY: So could I emphasise four aspects that I draw

from these two paragraphs, relevant to what the
defendants say. First, the court was concerned with
claims for damages under section 47A(9), like the
present 58A. It was concerned with claims for damages
under section 47A(9). And this provision makes no
distinction between the authors of any infringement
decision. The CMA or Commission.

The second proposition is that the court recognised
at paragraph 53 that there must be a basic set of facts
that underpin the infringement. That is the third
sentence of paragraph 53:

"That must carry with it a certain basic set of
findings of fact, without which the decision could not
have been made."

That is the second proposition.

The third proposition is a binding set of facts are
those that are, I quote, "directly relevant" to the
finding of infringement. The words "directly relevant
to a decision as to infringement" is halfway down
paragraph 50. So a binding set of facts are those that
are directly relevant to the finding of infringement.

In other words, these are the key facts and are

distinguished from, I quote "peripheral or incidental

16
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facts", the phrase Lord Justice Lloyd uses, "peripheral
or incidental facts".

The fourth proposition is the purpose of the binding
nature of a recital is the same regardless of the author
of the decision, the purpose of the binding nature.

That is to say, challenging these facts, these key facts
would be tantamount to challenging the finding of
infringement. It would, as Lord Justice Lloyd said,
subvert the infringement finding. He uses the word
"subvert". To challenge them would be tantamount to

challenging the finding in question.

MR JUSTICE FANCOURT: Them in the plural, you say you should

look at facts of this character collectively, rather

than individually one by one.

MR BREALEY: Well, both, individually and collectively. And

I will come on to that, that certainly if you are
looking at section 3 of the settlement decision, you
would look at the individual facts but you would look at
them collectively because they form the essential part
of the finding of infringement.

To answer the point, the recitals may refer, for
example, to 10 meetings at which the cartelists agreed
to fix prices. Now, the 10 meetings could form part of
the essential basis for infringement individually and

collectively. But if you challenge one meeting
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successfully it doesn't mean to say the other nine are
peripheral or incidental. You may have 10 meetings,
they may collectively form the essential basis. But
simply because you knock out one and the decision is not
annulled doesn't mean the other nine are somehow
peripheral. So that is the defendants' case, as we will
see.

So that is the Enron judgment. It is Court of
Appeal. It dealt specifically with the binding nature
of recitals.

PRESIDENT: And you say that although this is of
course -- no, you say they don't discuss article 16
here, do they, in this decision, because it is an ORR

decision.

MR BREALEY: Yes. Section 47A, so going back to

paragraph 50, in the old days before the change, before
the Consumer Rights Act 2015, 47A(9) concerned OFT
decisions and Commission decisions. Section 58A only
dealt with claims in the court and OFT decisions, and
that is why Lord Justice Lloyd at paragraph 49 says it
seems a bit odd that no reference is made in section 58A
to a decision of the European Commission.

And all this was changed when we had the new
section 58A. ©58A now refers to infringement decisions

of the CMA and the Commission and before the Tribunal
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and before the court.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes. So he says at 49 that that might
perhaps, because it was left to be governed by Iberian.

MR BREALEY: And Ms Demetriou obviously will deal with the
Iberian because it concerns abuse.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: But my first proposal is the Court of Appeal
was concerned with a domestic claim for damages under
section 47A(9), you can now read that as section 5834,
and that makes no distinction between the author of the
decisions. It sets it out, but it is not making
a distinction.

So that is the Court of Appeal authority.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: Can I -- the next authority is BritNed and that

is authority bundle 3, tab 47. It is a long judgment.
We are only going to a small section of it. Just on
prage 9 of the judgment, paragraph 1. We can see
paragraph 1, it was a follow-on action. It was
following on a decision of the European Commission in
Power Cables.

THE PRESIDENT: So just like this case.

MR BREALEY: Just like this case. So the defendants say
Enron, it was all concerned with the Rail Regulator, it

has nothing to do with this case; this actually is

19
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a Commission decision.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: And the relevant section is on page 26. So
these are paragraphs 67 and 68. They are the relevant
paragraphs on the binding nature of recitals.
Paragraph 67 and 68. And again is it best, sir, if
I ask the court to just read those paragraphs and then
I can —-- because we are short of time, I will then
inform the court what our essential propositions are.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, okay. Can you just remind me, was this
a settlement decision or a decision --

MR BREALEY: No, this was a --

THE PRESIDENT: -- after a disputed period?

MR BREALEY: 1In actual fact ABB has recently, I think
Mr Ward is going to refer to this, challenged a certain
aspect of the decision. But this was a full-blown
decision.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, thank you.

MR BREALEY: I can't remember if there were any leniency
applicants, but it was not a settlement decision.

THE PRESIDENT: That is all I wanted to know.

MR BREALEY: I am told ABB

So these are the critical paragraphs.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: I would like to draw the Tribunal's attention
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to three aspects about this judgment which are relevant
to this case. First, the court had regard to EU law to
decide what the binding nature of the decision was for
the purpose of the damages claim. So the court had
regard to European law to decide what actually the
decision was. So Commission decision defined by EU law.
It seems an obvious proposition, but it wasn't so
obvious to the appeal decision in Deutsche Bahn. We
will come onto that in a moment.

So that is the first point, the court had regard to
EU law to decide what the binding nature of an EU
decision was for the purpose of damages and we see that
from proposition 6 at page 28 at the bottom. A decision
is an instrument, and over the page. So

Mr Justice Marcus Smith is looking at EU cases --

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, we have seen that, yes.

MR BREALEY: The second point I want to note is applying EU

law, and this is (b), this is (b) on page 28, applying
EU law, a recital is binding in a damages action if it
constitutes -- and this is important, and I emphasise
the word "part", "part of the essential basis" for an
infringement decision. Hence my 10 meetings point.

The reason I emphasise "part" is because the
defendants, as we see, and we will see, emphasise it has

to be the essential, whereas we say you have to look at

21
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it more on a holistic basis; is that recital a part of
the essential basis and that is what Mr Justice Marcus
Smith was deciding, which is pretty obvious, we would
say.

So that is the second -- "part of the essential
basis" for the infringement decision.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: The third point I want to note, and this is
essentially paragraph 68, the findings of fact in the
recitals as to the behaviour of the cartelists were
regarded as part of the essential basis.

THE PRESIDENT: Well, it wasn't challenged.

MR BREALEY: Well, it wasn't challenged. But the judge
accepted it. But I agree. It wasn't challenged by --
I appreciate it is different clients, but it wasn't
challenged by Mr Hoskins or Freshfields.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, but I think here it is.

MR BREALEY: Here it is. But nevertheless it was —-- seemed

to be common ground, and normally when it is common

ground it seems to be pretty obvious, if it is common

ground, that the behaviour, a general description of the

cartel, constituted part of the essential basis for
a decision.
So that is the second domestic authority I want

to —-
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THE PRESIDENT: Before you leave that, is there anywhere in
this judgment, did the judge have to consider any
dispute as to -- about any particular recital as to
whether it was an essential basis or not?

MR BREALEY: We have trawled through this and I do not
believe there is.

THE PRESIDENT: And the second question is, as you know this
judgment went to the Court of Appeal.

MR BREALEY: We trawled through that as well and it does not
really touch on it.

THE PRESIDENT: But do they comment at all on the judge's
comments in paragraph 67

MR BREALEY: I have double-checked, and as far as I can
recall it doesn't. I will double-check. So that is the
second domestic judgment, emphasise part of the
essential basis.

The second part is the authority in Deutsche Bahn
and that is in volume 4, tab 66. Volume 4, tab 66.
Again, just to set the scene, paragraphs 1 to 4 show
this was another follow-on action for damages based on
the carbon and graphite Commission decision, and the
issue was the nature of the infringement decision which
would bind for the purpose of the follow-on claim and
then determine whether the claim is time-barred. So

there is a time-bar issue, but really it centred on the
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definition of "decision".

So again, just to note in passing some paragraphs,
and then I will draw some propositions. Paragraph 6 on
page 4, again we get the same section 47A(9) but equally
applies to section 58A now. This was a Commission
decision and therefore paragraph 10 is important:

"Section 47A(9) ... reflects a general principle of
European law, that domestic courts cannot take decisions
running counter to a Commission decision "

And that is relevant to the next paragraph,
paragraph 16, because the Court of Appeal said that the
decision should be defined by reference to domestic law,
not European law and the Supreme Court said that was an
error. We see that in the last three lines of
paragraph 16.

So we are looking at European law to decide what is
meant by "decision", and we get the same approach at
paragraph 22, page 11. It is the bit in the middle
which is actually quite important for the present case
in paragraph 22. 1In a nutshell, you cannot have
a different Commission decision for damages actions to
that on judicial review in the community courts.

A decision must be the same. So that is where you get
the, halfway down:

"[That] ... would mean that there existed at one and

24
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the same time an unmodified decision for European
purpose and a modified decision for domestic law
purposes."

So the Supreme Court is saying there the decision
must be the same and we will obviously say that is the
decision with the operative part and binding nature of
recitals, if that is what European law says.

I would ask the Tribunal to also note paragraphs 24
and 25, then I will draw the Tribunal's attention to
three aspects of this judgment. So paragraphs 24 and
25.

So could I, having drawn attention to these
paragraphs, draw attention to three aspects of the
judgment that I want to emphasise. The first, I have
already alluded to this, the first is that -- and this
is what Mr Justice Marcus Smith stated in BritNed -- the
first is that the decision that is binding for the
purposes of the damages claim is the same binding
decision that applies in the case of judicial review in
the community context. It is the same decision. And in
my submission that includes binding recitals if those
recitals are binding for the purposes of judicial review
in the community context.

That is the first proposition.

The second proposition is that the Supreme Court
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considered that all issues regarding the scope of the
cartel, and I emphasise the word "scope" of the cartel,
would be decided in the decision. We get that from
paragraph 24. So it is proceeding on the basis that the
scope of the cartel is decided in the decision and that
in my submission" scope" includes the behaviour of the
cartelists. That is paragraph 24. We see halfway in
that paragraph "scope of the cartel".

THE PRESIDENT: So you say it is more that -- I think it is
Lord Mance, isn't 1it?

MR BREALEY: Yes.

THE PRESIDENT: When he refers to scope, he spells out at
paragraph 25 in the second sentence --

MR BREALEY: Yes, the decision referred to is there "cannot
be a decision in the air".

THE PRESIDENT: But he then says it must be a decision
between specified parties, specified periods. On one
view, that is the scope.

MR BREALEY: Well --

THE PRESIDENT: But you say that -- and that is how he
explains the assumption, which is the sentence you have
drawn attention to in paragraph 24. But you say it goes
beyond that.

MR BREALEY: Yes. As you know, sir, this concerned

basically the interpretation of the article itself,
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whether the article had a bundle of individual decisions

or whether it was a collective decision.

THE PRESIDENT: Mm-hm.

MR BREALEY: But the third proposition that I -- so when

Lord Mance is referring to scope of the cartel, that in
my view -- when it says will have decided all issues
regarding the scope of the cartel -- just to pick up --
go back to authority bundle 3, BritNed, before I go on
to the third proposition. So it is authority bundle 3,
tab 47, page 26. And let's have a look at what that
article said in Power Cables. This is at the bottom of
page 26:

"Article 1. The follow undertakings infringed
Article 101 ... by participating, in a single and
continuous infringement, in the (extra) high voltage
underground and/or submarine power cables sector."

Now, that is the infringement described in less than
three lines and then when Lord Mance at paragraph 24 is
saying in follow-on action "the Commission Decision will
have decided all issues regarding the scope of the
cartel”, you wouldn't know what the scope of the cartel
was unless you looked at the recitals, and indeed if you
do Google the decision and you pick it up, you will see
that the recitals particularise that it was a "cartel".

You wouldn't get that from article 1.
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THE PRESIDENT: Nor does it look like you would get from
article 1, if that is the full article 1, the period,
would you, in that case?

MR BREALEY: No, no.

HODGE MALEK: So where do I find article 1 in the
Deutsche Bahn case? It is the decision -- I would just
like to see what that says, really.

MR BREALEY: I would have to -- it may be it is in the Court
of Appeal judgment. I will find it.

So there are three propositions I wanted to get from
the judgment. I will just repeat the first two. The
first is that it is the same decision. The second is
that Lord Mance is referring to the scope of the cartel.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, we have got that, got that.

MR BREALEY: And the third one, I don't think it is without
relevance, 1s that Lord Mance -- this is paragraph 25 --
Lord Mance considered that Lord Justice Lloyd in Enron
was referring generally to infringement decisions,
irrespective of the author. This is because Lord Mance
refers expressly to those paragraphs 50 and 53
I mentioned earlier.

So paragraph 50 and 53 is getting at least some
endorsement by the Supreme Court, but importantly it is
getting endorsement for the purposes of a Commission

decision. And why is that relevant? It is relevant so
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when Mr Beard gets up and says well, you can dismiss
Enron because it is all concerned with the Rail
Regulator, my third proposition is well, actually that
is a bit simplistic because both the Court of Appeal and
the Supreme Court is looking at section 47A(9) in a more
holistic way.
I will get article 1 for you, but Mr Spitz reminds
me at paragraph 12 of the judgment it seems that they --
THE PRESIDENT: They do set out the period. They do set out
the period.
MR BREALEY: Well, this is in the carbon graphite decision.
I don't know about the Power Cables decision.
THE PRESIDENT: But that is -- is that not article 1 to
which Lord Mance referred in paragraph 25? 1Is that not
the one in paragraph 127
MR BREALEY: Yes, and I can read -- someone has just handed
me -- so article 1 of this decision in Deutsche Bahn is:
"The following undertakings have infringed article 1
from 1 January 1994 by participating for the periods
indicated [and this is the important bit] in a complex
of agreements and concerted practices in the sector of
electrical and mechanical carbon and graphite products."
That is all it says. And then it is ABB addressed
to the various individual companies. So what is stated

at paragraph 12 is essentially what is in article 1.
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THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR BREALEY: All that you get is that the parties
participated in a complex of agreements and concerted
practices in the sector of electrical and mechanical
carbon and graphite products.

So the last proposition, paragraphs 50 and 53 are
getting some degree of endorsement from the Supreme
Court.

Can I go to two last cases. At the moment I have
referred to domestic authority. Two last cases —--

THE PRESIDENT: Just before you do that ... I'm told that
the transcribers would like a break; would that be
a sensible moment for five minutes?

(12.00 pm)

(A short break)

(12.05 pm)

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, Mr Brealey.

MR BREALEY: Two cases to go through and then I will finish
and I will hand over.

The next case is Dutch Banks, and that is authority
bundle 1 at tab 6. Authority bundle 1 at tab 6. It is
only a small part of the judgment we need to really deal
with.

This concerned an agreement between banks to charge

a commission, and the European Commission found that the
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agreement distorted competition in The Netherlands, but
did not crucially affect trade on the facts of the case.
Accordingly the Commission granted a negative clearance.
The banks sought the annulment of the finding that it
distorted competition and the court ruled it admissible
because it did not adversely affect the bank's interest.
So it was essentially a case about locus standi.

But if we go to paragraph 31 we see the assessment
by the court, it is on page 10 of the bundle. Paragraph
30 and 31 are the relevant paragraphs. Paragraph 30 and
31 sets out what all the students of European law know,
that you have to have an act adversely affecting your
interests if you are going to be able to appeal it to
the European Court.

But it is the passage in paragraph 31 halfway down,
so after 31, after reference to the IBM case, which is
the classic locus standi test. You get to a line which
begins "annulment" and I ask the Tribunal to emphasise
the words:

"Their legality might be open to review by the
Community judicature only to the extent to which, as
grounds of an act adversely affecting a person's
interests, they constituted the necessary support for
its operative part. The Court of First Instance notes

in this case not only does the act not adversely affect
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the applicants' interests but also that the contested
recital does not constitute the necessary support for
the operative part of the act."

The reason I refer to this, and we will see this in
the Dutch Ports case in a moment, just a different
terminology: "necessary support". That is not
irrelevant to the present case because the defendants in
this case seem to be really focusing on the essential
part, so they refer to "the essential", whereas in this
we get "necessary support".

The next case is the Dutch Ports case. This is
tab 21 of the same bundle. This is really concerned
with locus standi, this is tab 21. We know the facts.
The Netherlands notify aid to the Commission. It was
for port dredging. The court considered the aid was
state aid, exempted it, and the action for annulment was
inadmissible because the annulment did not adversely
affect the government's interest.

We refer to this case. It is relevant because it is
the decision referred to by Mr Justice Marcus Smith in
BritNed and there are a couple of passages I want to
emphasise. Paragraphs 12 to 14, this is the arguments
of the parties. This is a summary of what the
Commission is submitting. So paragraph 12:

"The Commission submits that the action is
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inadmissible."

Why? Paragraph 13, only an act which is binding and
capable of affecting his interests. The measure has no
binding legal effect such as to affect its interest,
does not bring about any change in its legal position.
That is standard stuff.

And then paragraph 14 I ask the Tribunal to note:

"Whatever the grounds on which an act is based, only
its operative part is capable of producing legal effects
unless the grounds, as grounds of an act adversely
affecting a person's interests, constitute the necessary
support for the operative part thereof ..."

See Dutch Banks. So that is what the Commission is
submitting.

The court puts it in a slightly different way. So
the findings of the court is at 1821. It is
paragraph 21 which is relevant for our purposes. That
is the paragraph that is cited by Mr Justice Marcus
Smith in BritNed, where he says:

"The relevant act is a decision and to the extent
that ... (Reading to the words)... constitutes part of
the essential basis ... so too does a recital."

And he refers to paragraph 21 of this case and you
get that from the last sentence of paragraph 21. And at

paragraph 24 again it is important just to note:
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the disputed part of the statement of reasons
for the contested decision has no binding legal effect
such as to affect the interests of the Kingdom of The
Netherlands."

In other words, if the operative part did adversely
affect the government's legal interests, then the
statement of reasons which would necessarily support it
would have binding legal effect.

So where does that all take us? In our submission
the relevant principle is as follows. It is as set out
in Enron, BritNed, Deutsche Bahn and the Dutch Ports
case. What is the principle? We say the principle is
this. Where the Commission adopts an infringement
decision, a recital which constitutes a part of the
essential basis for that finding of infringement is also
binding. So where the Commission adopts an infringement
decision, a recital which constitutes a part of the
essential basis for that finding of infringement is also
binding.

And just to clarify that basic proposition, we
submit that the essential basis concerns any factual
finding or assessment that is directly related to the
finding of infringement or constitutes the necessary
support for that finding of infringement. We say there

is no material difference between an "essential part",
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"directly related" or "necessary support".

I won't, given the time, deal with the defendants'
arguments. I will deal with those in reply, see how
they make them out given the time. I'm told, sir, that
we would go on to the law and abuse, but because we are
slightly out of step Mr Ward may want to draw attention
to some other authorities on binding nature of the
recitals because he was going to go through it recital
by recital.

THE PRESIDENT: No, that is fine.

MR BREALEY: I think Mr Ward may just take a few minutes and
then we will pass to Ms Demetriou.

THE PRESIDENT: Thank you, Mr Brealey.

Submissions by MR. WARD

MR WARD: Sir, I am in your hands of course as to how we
would proceed. I do have some slightly more granular
submissions to make on the law by reference to what
really is in dispute in the recitals. So you will have
seen from the defendants' various defences there are
certain themes which recur. What I have in mind by way
of my submissions is to deal with those themes at
a reasonably high level of generality and then when in
due course one looks at the individual recitals one can
relatively quickly go through them by reverting back to

those arguments. I can do that now or that can be done
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when we deal with the detail.
THE PRESIDENT: Just a moment.

No, we think you should do it now and that is very
very helpful and that is why we rather envisaged that
following this way of proceeding, when we then come on
Friday to look at individual recitals they will, as it
were, slot into argument that we have already heard.

MR WARD: That is very much my expectation, sir.

So what I will do is deal with some of my high level
points now and at most illustrate by recital but refrain
from detail.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, I think illustration is helpful.

MR WARD: Good, thank you sir.

THE PRESIDENT: Let me just put away

MR WARD: I wanted to start by making some general
submissions by reference to section 3 of the decision,
and section 3 is the part which deals with the facts.
Mr Brealey already took you through the structure of the
decision, but just perhaps -- it is helpful to very
quickly put it into context.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR WARD: I'm dealing -- I'm afraid I don't know what bundle
it is but I hope by now you have it loose.

THE PRESIDENT: We have all got it.

MR WARD: Thank you sir. So the description of the conduct
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starts on page 12, section 3, and you will see there, we
have already seen, about four pages of high level
description of the facts that form the cartel and
starting on page 16 is section 4 which is headed "Legal
assessment"” and it says:

"Having regard to the ... evidence, the facts as
described in section 4 ..."

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR WARD: We think that is clearly a typo. It means
section 3.

THE PRESIDENT: We have that typo repeatedly.

MR WARD: We do, unfortunately, but it is evident it is
a typo.

THE PRESIDENT: It is page 15 in our copy.

MR WARD: I'm so sorry, sir.

THE PRESIDENT: Page 15, I think, isn't it? You said 16.

MR WARD: Well, I was looking at recital 64, so it sounds
like the numbering might be different to mine.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, I assume we have the same version.

MR WARD: I'm going to avoid page numbers as I have managed
to have a different version to you. In any event it is
recital 64 that heads the legal assessment section and
as Mr Brealey explained, there are some concessions by
the defendants that at least parts of section 4 are

binding, but there is still quite a bit of dispute about
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that, and there are a number of references back to the
factual section 3 in the legal assessment section,
having regard to the body of evidence and facts
described in, I will say, section 3; and then again in
recital 68, the conduct described in section 3, it
should be, can be described as a complex infringement,
et cetera.

And then we see it again at 71, under "Single and
continuous infringement". In the present case the
conduct described in section 3 constitutes a single and
continuous infringement. And then turning on a couple
of pages to recital 81, Mr Brealey showed you this
already, under the heading of "Restriction on
competition", the anti-competitive behaviour described
in paragraphs 49 to 60 has the object of restricting
competition, and the defendants' rather nuanced case is
that although 49 to 60 are not binding somehow recital
81 is.

But what is striking -- and you will have seen from
the schedules that they take very nuanced positions on
what they are prepared to admit in section 3, 49 to 60.
There is not much that they all admit and each of them
has slightly different positions on the individual
sentences of those recitals. There is virtually no

positive case, it is just bare non-admission. But the
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effect of what they say is to essentially require the
claimants to reprove most of these facts before the
Tribunal and in our respectful submission that is simply
the wrong approach, that the entirety of the factual
section is binding as being the essential basis for the
decision.

Now I just make a few high level legal submissions
in relation to that. The first is that although there
are eight lever-arch files of authorities I'm not aware
of any in which someone has been appealing the substance
of a decision and yet told that particular parts of the
factual assessment are not binding.

What we do see are cases like Dutch Banks where
there is a recital that may be undesirable in the course
of a decision which is ultimately favourable. So there
is a state aid clearance but on the way there is
a finding, for example, that the parties were
undertaking, and I will leave that to my learned friends
to develop the submissions on that.

But the case law they primarily rely upon is of that
kind. We haven't seen any which are of the kind that is
contemplated here where a cheese paring approach is
taken to the recitals that support the adverse finding
under challenge.

Now their case has one immediate and very stark
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consequence, which is that if they are right, nothing at
all in section 3 would have been appealable. So if they
had decided to go to the court rather than accept the
settlement, then according to them none of that at all
would have been available for review.

That is just plainly wrong and to see why simply by
way of example, the case of Servier shows an instance in
which the General Court got gquite stuck into review of
questions of fact and if I might ask you to turn up
authorities bundle 3, under tab 54 we have the Court of
Appeal's judgment on a preliminary issue in Servier,
which sets out -- I know, of course, my Lord Justice
Roth will be well aware of this.

It is under tab 54 in volume 3. And the issue in
that appeal is not the same as the one that is before
this court, but it is very helpful in explaining what
went on in the European proceedings in Servier. The
question was -- it was a case of abuse of dominant
position on the basis of what is sometimes called pay
for delay and there was a big issue in the proceedings
about what the correct product market was and we can see
that at the bottom of paragraph 3 on page 3:

"An important issue in the Commission investigation
into the Article 102 infringement was the definition of

the relevant market in which Coversyl competed [the drug

40



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

in question]; was the relevant market limited to
perindopril or did it include other ACE-inhibitors or a
wider range of products?"

Thankfully we will not need to understand this
detail for today's purpose.

You will see over the page:

"The Commission defined the relevant market ... as
comprising only perindopril and rejected Servier's ..."
submission that it was a wider market.

At paragraph 7 it says that they challenged the
decision in the court and at the bottom of that
paragraph it notes they made three complaints in
relation to the definition of "relevant product market"
and then the Court of Appeal quotes three paragraphs of
the General Court's judgment which explains the scope of
its review on questions of fact. I would just draw
attention to the bottom half of 1375, which explains
that:

"Those Courts [by which it means the European
courts] must establish, among other things, not only
whether the evidence relied on is factually accurate,
reliable and consistent but also whether the evidence
contains all the information that must be taken into
account to assess a complex situation ..."

So it is trite that in Luxembourg you can bring
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a challenge on findings of fact albeit that it is not
like a full trial like parties would enjoy in the
Competition Appeal Tribunal.

And then if one simply skims paragraphs 8 through to
13 or 14, you can see very readily the Commission, the
General Court engaged in a detailed examination of the
evidence to see whether the Commission's finding of
relevant market was justified and indeed it concluded it
was not, and in paragraph 9 it makes clear it was
focusing on the question of substitutability of these
products. Then at paragraph 10 the General Court

examined all the material on which the Commission relied

in some depth. It concluded:
"In the light of all the documents ... there is no
significant difference between ..." the different types

of drugs, et cetera.

I will not take up time reading more of it. It is,
in my respectful submission, an unambiguously correct
proposition of EU law that there can be factual
challenges.

Yet according to these defendants it simply wasn't
open to them to do so.

Now, I would like to show the court another
authority which demonstrates a challenge to factual

matters, because it is also important for a further
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point that I'm going to come on to. This is the Power
Cables judgment which came out only last week and as
a result of that it is in the last bundle of
authorities, F8. I want to take a little time on this
because it serves a number of purposes in our argument.
You will find in volume F8 I hope, recently
inserted, a tab 108. And tab 108 should be a very slim
extract from a very long decision which is the Power

Cables decision.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR WARD: If I could ask you to turn the page, you will see

this is just the operative part of the decision and you
saw this quoted in fact, partially quoted in the Britned
claim, because the BritNed claim follows on from this.
But as Mr Brealey points out, article 1, the operative
part is in very, very non-specific terms. It just talks
about an infringement "for the periods indicated, in
a single and continuous infringement in the (extra) high
voltage underground and/or submarine power cables
sector" and then in fact it does give the dates for each
individual undertaking. Mr Justice Roth asked that
question.

So that is the decision and it is extremely high
level.

If we turn the page to 109 we will find the appeal
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that was brought by ABB. This is in the General Court
at First Instance. And ABB, as this explains,

paragraph 3, was actually the immunity applicant. It
had full immunity. But it nevertheless objected to one
aspect of the Commission's decision and we can see the
infringement is described from paragraph 11 and
following and over the page we can see at 22 what it was
that ABB objected to. Essentially it objected to the
types of power cable that were within that rather
generalised formulation.

So if we look at paragraph 22:

"The applicants claim that the court should:

"Annul in part Article 1 of the contested decision
in so far as it finds that the applicants had
participated in a single and continuous infringement in
the (extra) high voltage underground and/or submarine
power cable sector in so far as that finding extends to
all projects involving underground power cables with
voltages of 110 kV and above (and not only projects
involving underground power cables with voltages of
220 kV and above"."

And then the second bullet point is exactly the same
thing but in relation to what are called accessories and
you can see the word "accessories" in the third line two

thirds of the way along.
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So you can see already and immediately that the
locus of their appeal was not concerned with anything
that is explicitly there on the face of the finding of
infringement, but they ask the court to annul that
infringement finding insofar as it covers these lower
voltage cables.

The judgment deals with the fact -- I'm so sorry,
before I move on to that. If you see at paragraph 25,
what is alleged is a manifest error of assessment on the
facts, that on the facts the cartel did not extend to
110 kV cables.

And then turning the page to 28 to 30 --

THE PRESIDENT: Just pausing there a moment.

MR WARD: Sorry, sir.

THE PRESIDENT: We haven't got, of course, the long decision
which I'm sure is extremely long.

MR WARD: It is very long.

THE PRESIDENT: Is the phrase "extra high voltage
underground and/or submarine power cables" as it were
defined in an early recital?

MR WARD: I don't know, although it seems likely it would
be. We will check that over lunch, sir, if I may.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

MR WARD: I was going to take you forwards to 28 to 30 which

explains why even a leniency applicant was able to bring
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this claim. You will see it says:

"... it should be noted that the applicants do not
dispute the existence of an infringement, or the
calculation of the fine, or call into question
information and materials which they submitted to the
Commission in the course of the administrative procedure
in the context of their application for immunity.
However, they do submit that the contested decision
contains certain errors which extend the scope of the
Commission's finding in relation to the infringement

"At the hearing, the applicants essentially observed
that a lack of precision in the determination of the
products or the duration of participation could have
significant consequences in the context of actions for
damages before the national courts, which they claim are
connected to the Commission's decision."

And the court recalls the significance of such
consequences is acknowledged.

So what this means is that the court was willing to
entertain a challenge essentially to the detail of the
factual findings and the recitals notwithstanding that
the operative part was in very general terms.

Just to move on, in the first Court of First
Instance the challenge failed in its entirety, but in

last week's judgment of the Court of Justice ABB was
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partly successful. We find the Court of Justice
judgment under the next tab and we can I think take this
now very quickly. We will see from paragraph 37 that
the Court of Justice considers precisely the argument
that we have been addressing, namely whether -- I'm so
sorry.

At 36 they reject the first ground of appeal which
was to do with cables generally from 110 to 220 kV.

But at 37 they address the second limb of the
claimant's argument, which was about power cable
accessories within that band. To cut a long story
short, they upheld that finding and we can see why,
very, very quickly, at 44 and 45. They say at 44 in the
last three lines:

"The General Court effectively relied on an
unsubstantiated presumption. In those circumstances it
must be held the General Court failed to have regard to
evidential requirements in finding that the collective
refusal to supply the power cable accessories in 643F of
the decision covered accessories for cables between 110
to 220 kilovolts."

So they actually upheld that small part of challenge
and, very importantly, having rejected the rest of the
challenge, if we could turn right towards the end of the

judgment, paragraph 101, grants the relief that ABB were
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actually asking for:

"It follows that the decision at issue must be
annulled insofar as it finds ABB liable for an
infringement in respect of a collective refusal to
supply accessories for underground power cables with
voltages from 110 to 220."

Now, that did not mean that the entire operative
part would be annulled or even that there were any words
that could be blue pencilled from the operative part.

So if one looks at the dispositif at paragraph 3 on the
very last page, the order is made to annul the decision
insofar as it finds ABB liable and so forth.

Now why do we say that matters. It matters for two
reasons. Firstly, it is another good example of factual
challenge, but secondly it goes to a very substantial
stand in the defendants' case that Mr Brealey has
already alluded to, which is they argue that large
numbers of recitals are not essential basis, because if
they were knocked out on their own the operative part of
the decision would not be annulled. And they say
essentially that -- they atomise the decision. They say
that each of these individually would not be enough on
its own and therefore none of them can be essential
basis.

Mr Brealey has already given a short answer to this,
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which is that each is part of the essential basis and
this is a peculiar means by which they seek to take
advantage from just how long-standing, widespread and
all-pervading this cartel really was.

One can have an infringement decision based on
a single action, a single information exchange, for
example, and we had that recently in a case called
Balmoral where it was just one anti-competitive action
and in that case of course if you successfully quash
that one incident, the decision falls over.

What we have here is much more like a centipede. It
has a very large number of legs and each of those legs
is, in our submission, individually part of the
essential basis. It is true if they wanted to annul the
decision altogether then they would have to attack
a great many of those legs, but that doesn't mean that
each individual leg is not part of the essential basis.

Power Cables is an excellent example of that because
only one small element of the decision was successfully
attacked and what the court did was to contemplate
a qualification of the operative part as a result.

There are other cases in the authorities bundle
which demonstrate the same point and perhaps I will just
show the court one useful dictum on this which we cited

in our skeleton argument which is in the first
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authorities bundle under tab 17. This is a case called
Lagardere, or at least that is how I am going to
pronounce it. There is a rather tortured procedural
history in this case, but I am going to go quite rapidly
to the important dicta. Essentially, two important
concentrations were notified to the Commission and the
Commission decided not to oppose them. We can see that
recital 6. But the Commission issued its decision
twice, and the second occasion substantially corrected
it in a way which was more adverse to the parties.

We can see that at paragraph 11, because essentially
it identified a larger number of restrictions which were
not to be regarded as ancillary to the concentrations
and therefore essentially didn't get the benefits of the
clearance. The issue was whether this was something
that the parties were entitled to challenge. The court
said no in the end, but the useful part for present
purposes is at page 22 of the bundle numbering,
paragraphs 67 and 68. At 67 the court talks about the
role of recitals and says:

"... the courts have consistently held that only the
operative part of an act is capable of producing binding
legal effects and, thereby, of having adverse effects,
nevertheless the statement of the reasons for an act is

indispensable for determining the exact meaning of what

50
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is stated ..."

Of course that is precisely why it is binding, so
that the exact meaning is understood and is treated as
binding. And then at 68:

"It follows that the decision of 10 July 2000 can be
the subject of an action for annulment only if, even
without altering the operative terms of the decision
the amendment of some of the grounds of the latter
changed the substance of what was decided in the
operative part, thus affecting the applicants' interests

"

That is precisely what happened in last week's
judgment in the court in regard to the Power Cables
case.

There are other examples, but I go no further with
this point given the time, unless and until it proves
necessary having heard my friends' arguments.

I think that is all I wanted to say on the law in my
opening remarks before picking up more detail when we go
through the individual recitals. Unless I can assist
further at this stage.

PRESIDENT: Your case is that section 3 comes within

that principle?

MR WARD: Yes, yes. So section 3 is of course -- as this is

a settlement decision it is in summary terms. This is
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analysis applied to the facts which gives rise to the
infringement in the operative part. But it is to the
recitals we have to look to understand what is meant by
the very general wording in the operative part of the

decision. And just as in Power Cables it is very

imprecise, as I'm sure everyone is well aware, article 1

just talks about colluding on pricing and gross price
increases in the EEA, and one of the contested matters

in this case is what that actually means.

HODGE MALEK: Do you need to look at all the recitals to

learn what the operative part means?

MR WARD: My submission is all these recitals in section 3

have a bearing on what is the nature of the infringement

that has been found because in various ways they
describe and explain the nature of the collusion on
pricing and gross price increases which is the
foundation of the decision.

We see that repeated reference back in the legal
assessment part to the whole of section 3. So this is
the conduct which is the cartel. So if this was

a single information exchange case it would Jjust

describe -- I am reading again from Mr Brealey's
example -- a 17 January 1997 headquarters meeting in
Brussels; that is recital 52. But this cartel was so
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much bigger and more complicated than that. In fact
there are a myriad of anti-competitive acts that make up
the cartel. Moreover if we look at recital 71 it even
says that any -- just to turn that up now -- in the
fourth line of recital 71 it says:

"Any one of the aspects of the conduct has as its
object the restriction of competition and therefore
constitutes an infringement of article 101 in its own
right."

So the Commission is saying all of this conduct is
infringing conduct. Add all that conduct together and
you get a single and continuous infringement and that is
the single and continuous infringement which is
described at high level at article 1 of the operative
part.

On Friday I will go through this in more detail and
make it good and we can examine the parts that are
objected to on wvarious grounds. In fact that sentence
I have just read out is the subject of objection, but in
our respectful submission this is just the factual
foundation of the decision. All of it is essential and
all of it goes to explain what the decision really

means.

MR JUSTICE FANCOURT: Do you say that the reference to, for

example, the conduct described in section 3 or behaviour
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incorporates by reference and therefore becomes part of
the essential basis, or do you just say that illustrates
the point you have just explained to us, that it is
necessary to go to that material?

MR WARD: I am going to have that both ways. I am going to
say the reference back makes it clear without doubt, but
even without the reference back I would be able to make
the same submission because the structure is very clear:
here are the facts, here is the law, here is how we
apply the law to those facts and the conclusion of that
exercise is the infringement finding.

Can I be of further assistance at this point?

THE PRESIDENT: Thank you very much.

MR WARD: Thank you.

Submissions by MS DEMETRIOU

THE PRESIDENT: Who goes next? Ms Demetriou, thank you.

MS DEMETRIOU: May it please the Tribunal. I'm going to
address the Tribunal on abuse of process and it is the
claimants' contention that it is an abuse of process for
the defendants to seek now to contest the facts
contained in the decision. In a nutshell what we say is
that it is abusive for the defendants to have admitted
the conduct in the recitals to the decision, to have

admitted that conduct to the Commission in order to
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obtain a substantial reduction to their fines, and then
to seek in effect to withdraw those admissions in these
subsequent proceedings. They seek to do that not
because they are saying that the recitals are wrong and
wish to advance an alternative positive case, but simply
in order to enter a series of non-admissions which would
have the effect of making the claimants have to prove
all over again the facts that they have already
admitted.

I propose to develop my submissions in the following
order. I'm going to first of all take the Tribunal to
some of the relevant authorities on abuse of process.

I anticipate I can do that quite quickly because the
Tribunal will have seen from the skeleton arguments that
there is a good measure of common ground in terms of the
applicable underlying principles.

Secondly, I'm going to take the Tribunal to the key
legislative provisions and also some recitals in the
decision that deal with the settlement procedure and how
that operates and how it operated in this case.

Thirdly, I'm going to elaborate on the headline
points that I have Jjust summarised and explain why it
would be an abuse of process within the meaning of the
test laid down in the cases for the defendants to resile

from their admissions in the circumstances of this case.
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Finally, I propose to address the key arguments made
by the defendants in response to our contention. I'm
not going to deal with their arguments in a lot of
detail because I will see how they develop them and can
turn to them in reply, but I do want to say what our
broad answers are to the various key points that they

make.

HODGE MALEK: One point before you do. Obviously I haven't

seen the settlement; sometimes when you settle with

a prosecutor or regulator the settlement will have

a provision that you are not allowed to make a statement
which contradicts what is set out in the statement of
facts in the decision; how does that work in this
context? Is there any provision that says that the
cartelists are not allowed to publicly deny the various

things set out in the decision?

MS DEMETRIOU: We, of course, can't see the settlement

submissions so we don't know if there is anything in the
settlement submissions in which the defendants agreed
anything along those lines. I will take you in due
course to the settlement procedure and to the
legislation which sets out how this was meant to operate

in general.

HODGE MALEK: That would be very helpful.

THE PRESIDENT: Just to be quite clear, I think it is pretty
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clear, but just to make sure there is no
misunderstanding, the entire submission on abuse which
you are going to develop is based on the fact that there

is a settlement, is it?

MS DEMETRIOU: It is based on the fact that this is

a settlement decision, that's correct. It doesn't
follow from that that every settlement decision that
resiles from facts submitted in any settlement would
necessarily be an abuse, because we recognise that it is
a fact-specific analysis and so there may be
circumstances in which it would not be abusive to seek
to resile from settlement decisions. So I'm not seeking
to persuade the Tribunal to lay down any general
guidance, but for the purposes of our argument, then it

is critical that this is a settlement decision, yes.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, thank you.

MR JUSTICE FANCOURT: And you are approaching it on the

assumption, contrary to your clients' cases, that the
relevant findings in question are not part of the

essential basis of the decision.

MS DEMETRIOU: That is correct, because if we are right on

the primary argument then the Tribunal would not need to
determine this.
But, my Lord, the position that we are in, just

stepping back, is that we have a decision which is
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a much more streamlined decision than one would get in

a contested procedure and the facts that are set out are
much less full, much less detailed than one would get if
it were not a settlement decision.

As I will come on to explain, the facts set out in
the decision reflect the admissions made by the
defendants in their settlement submissions and we are
now faced with a contention that almost none -- in fact
DAF says none -- of the findings of fact are binding,
and in addition they are free as a matter of English
procedural law simply to resile from them in these

proceedings. It is that point that I'm dealing with.

MR JUSTICE FANCOURT: Also to what extent are we dealing

with them as non-admissions? You have to prove it, or
are they saying, "There are certain facts simply not

correct and we dispute those facts".

MS DEMETRIOU: So the vast majority of what are said are

simply non-admissions --

MR JUSTICE FANCOURT: There will be examples where they say,

"This fact here is simply not correct".

MS DEMETRIOU: There are almost no examples of that. They

will deal with that, but as far as we can see there are
almost no examples of that. In the main there is
a series of non-admissions and coming back to the

overriding point about this being a fact-sensitive
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analysis, one can see i1f there were some information
that came to light after the event which threw into
doubt an admission, then it may not be abusive in those
circumstances to put forward an alternative case. But
that is not what is going on here, and what is very
clear from the skeleton arguments of the defendants is
that although they resist our arguments, nowhere in
their skeleton arguments do they seek in substance to
say that these recitals are wrong and that there is in
fact an alternative story to tell. So that is a key
feature of our argument under this head.

PRESIDENT: There is one recital where I think everyone
agrees that there is an error with regard to the
exception made for DAF in recital 48, as I understand
it, although DAF says it is not binding. But I think as
I understood it, it is accepted that the reference in
the fifth line, with the exception of DAF, is not

correct.

MS DEMETRIOU: My Lord, I think that is right. Can I come

back -- can we deal at the end with individual
recitals --
PRESIDENT: I believe that is right, Mr Beard, is it

not?

MR BEARD: I believe so.

MS DEMETRIOU: I think that is correct.
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My Lord, I see the time; would you like me to get

started on the authorities or would you like --

THE PRESIDENT: We started a bit late so why don't you go

until about 1.05.

MS DEMETRIOU: So the applicable test, as I said, is largely

common ground and we can see, just to save time, if we
pick up MAN's skeleton argument, which I have in bundle
E at tab 4, behind tab 4, and turn to paragraphs 14 and
15, we accept that the essential test is the test laid
down in paragraphs 14 and 15. So if the parties to the
later civil proceedings were not parties to or privies
of those who were parties to the earlier proceedings, it
will only be an abuse of process for the court to
challenge the factual findings and conclusion of the
judge or jury in the earlier action if:

"(1l) it would be manifestly adverse to a party to
the later proceedings that the same issue should be
relitigated, or;

"(2) to permit such re-litigation would bring the
administration of justice into disrepute."

Then at 15, in determining those points essentially
it is a focus on the facts that the court must carry out
and so we accept the propositions in those paragraphs.
So the test is largely common ground and the aspect of

abuse on which we rely in these proceedings derives from
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the Hunter case. If we could start by picking that up,
please, in the first authorities bundle behind tab 3.

The Tribunal will know that although this is an
authority which dates back to 1981, it is an authority
which has been applied on many occasions and is still
very often cited, and what the authority demonstrates is
that it may be an abuse of process to attack
collaterally a finding made by another court and in
subsequent authorities it has been made clear that the
first proceedings don't necessarily have to be court
proceedings but can extend to decisions by regulators.
We see that both in Iberian and also, for example, in
the Barings case.

But sticking with Hunter for the moment, the
Tribunal will know that the case concerned the
Birmingham 6 and the defendants argued during the course
of the criminal proceedings that their confessions had
been procured by force. This was determined against
them at trial, so there was a voir dire that was carried
out by the judge and subsequently they were convicted
and following conviction they brought proceedings
against two Chief Constables and the Home Office for
damages in respect of the force which they say was used
to procure their confessions. It was held by the House

of Lords that the subsequent proceedings were



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

62

a collateral attack on the decision of the criminal
court and therefore an abuse of process.

We can see the reasoning. So starting at page 536
at the beginning of Lord Diplock's speech between
paragraphs C to D. So he says there that:

"... this is a case about abuse of the process of
the High Court. It concerns the inherent power which
any court of justice must possess to prevent misuse of
its procedure in a way which, although not inconsistent
with the literal application of its procedural rules,
would nevertheless be manifestly unfair to a party to
litigation before it, or would otherwise bring the
administration of justice into disrepute among
right-thinking people."

So again you see there an iteration of the test
which is common ground:

"The circumstances in which abuse of process can
arise are very varied; those which give rise to the
instant appeal must surely be unique. It would, in my
view, be most unwise if this House would use this
occasion to say anything that might be taken as limiting
to fixed categories the kinds of circumstances in which
the court has a duty (I disavow the word discretion) to
exercise this salutory power."

And then moving on to page 540 at the very bottom of
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the page at letter H, so there it is said that:

". it is my own view, which I understand is shared
by all your Lordships, that it would be best, in order
to avoid confusion, if the use of the description 'issue
estoppel' in English law, at any rate ... were
restricted to that species of estoppel per rem judicatam
that may arise in civil actions between the same parties
or their privies, of which the characteristics are
stated in a judgment of my own in Mills v Cooper

"The abuse of process which the instant case
exemplifies is the initiation of proceedings in a Court
of justice for the purpose of mounting a collateral
attack upon a final decision against the intending
plaintiff which has been made by another court of
competent Jjurisdiction in previous proceedings in which
the intending plaintiff had a full opportunity of
contesting the decision in the court by which it was
made."

And then over the page at 542B to C you have some
extracts there from Reichel v Magrath and the speeches
in that case which are repeated, which again go to
explain the basis and the rationale for this, for the
operation of this rule.

Now, one of the points to make about Hunter, and it

emerges from the last extract that I showed the
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Tribunal, is that it is a case in which the two sets of
proceedings did not, of course, involve the same
parties. So clearly the defendants to the criminal
proceedings were plaintiffs in the civil proceedings,
but in the civil proceedings they sued the police and
the Home Office, who were not, of course, parties to the
criminal prosecution. So that is a point to bear in
mind when considering the submissions made by the
defendants to the effect that it would be a rare case
where the litigation of an issue which has not
previously been decided between the same parties and
their privies would amount to an adducement.

Essentially what we see from the cases -- so there
is no discussion of that particular feature in Hunter,
so plainly both parties weren't the same in Hunter, but
there is no discussion of that. The proper analysis of
this, in our submission, is that generally in abuse of
process cases it will be the case by definition that the
parties are not the same, because if they were the same,
then you would be in the realms of cause of action
estoppel or issue estoppel.

So it may be that abuse of process cases are really
relatively rare. That may be the case. But it is not
the case that within the category of abuse of process

there is some additional hurdle that has to be satisfied
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if the parties are not both the same in both sets of
proceedings.

We see this in fact from the Virgin Atlantic Airways
case which is in the second authorities bundle. I can
take this very quickly. It is behind tab 38. The first
paragraph it is helpful to look at is paragraph 17 which
is on page 10 of the printed bundle pages. That is
tab 38, page 10. And this is a paragraph in the speech
of Lord Sumption where he sets out the categories which
fall under what he calls the portmanteau term of
res judicata. He separates out the different related
forms of this. So you have the first principle, which
is cause of action estoppel. Further down the page the
fourth principle is the principle that where the cause
of action is not the same as it was in the earlier one,
there is an issue that is binding on the parties. So
that is issue estoppel.

Then finally, and this is the aspect that concerns
us, finally there is the more general procedural rule
against abusive proceedings which may be regarded as the
policy underlying all principles with the possible
exception of the doctrine of merger.

Then we see at paragraph 25, going on to page 16,

a discussion of Johnson v Gore-Wood and the principle in

Henderson v Henderson and so the principle in Henderson



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

66

v Henderson is not relied on in the context of this
case. But what is interesting is Lord Sumption there
saying:

"The focus in Johnson v Gore-Wood was inevitably on
abuse of process because the parties to the two actions
were different, and neither issue estoppel nor cause of
action estoppel could therefore run ..."

Then we see that:

"Res judicata is a rule of substantive law, while
abuse of process is a concept which informs the exercise
of the court's procedural powers. In my view, they are
distinct although overlapping legal principles with the
common underlying purpose of limiting abusive and
duplicative litigation."

So what we see there is a recognition that precisely
where one doesn't have the same parties in two sets of
proceedings, that is when abuse of process is likely to
be relevant, because in cases where you do have the same
parties or their privies then one is much more likely to
be arguing the case on the basis of cause of action
estoppel or issue estoppel.

My Lord, might that be a convenient moment?

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, thank you very much. We will say 2.10.

(1.10 pm)

(The short adjournment)
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THE CHAIRMAN: I don't know if it is possible to prop open

the back door to get some draught. It does get quite
hot in here, I think everyone is conscious of that. If
that can be done, I don't think we have a noise problem,
that might help.

Yes, Ms Demetriou.

MS DEMETRIOU: Sir, I had just taken the Tribunal to

Virgin Atlantic Airways. Can we go back briefly to
MAN's skeleton argument, which is in bundle E behind

tab 4.

THE CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MS DEMETRIOU: Because I want to finish up on the degree to

which this is common ground, the underlying principles.
So it is behind tab 4 and on page 6. I have said that
we accept that paragraphs 14 and 15 accurately reflect

the test that is applicable in this case.

THE CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MS DEMETRIOU: I have dealt with paragraph 16. That is the

point on Virgin. And a further point is in paragraph 17
by reference to Bragg v Oceanus Mutual and what is said
there is that it is an exceptional course. So there is
a citation from Sir David Cairns' judgment in that case
and it is said:

"'Tt would in my judgment be a most exceptional
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course to strike out the whole or part of a defence in

a commercial action' simply because the issues raised by
way of defence had been addressed in prior proceedings
between different parties."

If we could briefly turn up that judgment. So that
is in authorities 1 behind tab 4 and if you could turn
to page 138 which is page 7 in bundle pagination.

So this section is from the judgment of
Lord Justice Kerr and he then makes a similar point.
This is on page 138, halfway down the first column. So
he says there that:

"... defendants who wish to relitigate a particular
line of defence in a subsequent action, albeit that they
were unsuccessful in this respect in a previous action,
are clearly in an a fortiori position from that of the
plaintiff in that case."

Then he gives an illustration and the illustration
concerns two private -- two sets of private proceedings,
so you have a situation he says where:

"... a client instructs accountants to investigate
and report on some company which the client is thinking
of buying. The accountants then produce a report and
sue the client for their fees. The client's defence 1is
that the investigation was negligent and that the report

is worthless, and this ... succeeds."
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Then:

"Suppose that a third party, to whom the report has
been passed and who has bought the company in reliance
on it, then sues the accountants in negligence.”" And it
is said, "Could it possibly be said that the accountants
are precluded from denying negligence on the ground that
this issue had already been fully investigated and
decided against them in the action against their client?
In my view, the answer would clearly be no."

So we don't either dissent from that proposition.
But what we say about that is that that is not this
case, because one can quite see that in a situation
where you have two sets of proceedings between private
parties -- I mean, to give another example, you may have
a road traffic accident and there is proceedings between
two of the participants in the road traffic accident and
then a third party comes along later and may have new
evidence which throws a completely different light on
the way the accident happened and they shouldn't be
precluded from running that point, even though it
relates to the same accident and one of the parties is
the same.

But what we say about that is this case is quite
different because the defendants have not -- this is not

a case 1n which the defendants have -- the first
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proceedings relate to private litigation, but the first
proceedings were public enforcement proceedings and in
those proceedings, in those proceedings brought by the
public authority, the European Commission, which has
primary responsibility or important responsibility for
enforcing the competition rules, in those proceedings
these defendants deliberately chose to admit facts to
the public authority in return for receiving

a significant benefit. Moreover, in circumstances where
they were fully aware that the Commission decision was
likely to be used as the basis for damages claims
brought by victims of the cartel and then in those
circumstances, which are very different, they are
withdrawing their admissions and forcing the claimants
to prove the same facts.

So we don't dissent from the proposition so far as
it goes but we just say it is not an analogous case.

A much more closely analogous case to the present is
Iberian which is the final authority I'm going to take
the Tribunal to and that is in the same bundle behind
tab 7, and to take the Tribunal to the key paragraphs we
see on page 5 at paragraphs 7 to 8, the background to
all of this. So what was denied following a decision --
so it was admitted, we see at 7 (2):

"It is admitted that the European Commission has
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issued a Decision

And that decision found that the defendants had
abused their dominant position, but denied that the
alleged findings of the Commission are admissible in
evidence or that the plaintiff is entitled to rely upon
them. So that is what is said in the defence.

And then at 8, the further and better particulars
given by the defendants stated:

"(i) the plaintiff contends that the conclusions
drawn in the Decision by the Commission are conclusive
as to whether the defendants have committed abuses of
their dominant position whether raised in the decision
or in the present proceedings.

"(ii) the plaintiff contends that the findings of
fact set out in the Decision of the Commission are
conclusive evidence of those facts whether raised in the
Decision or in the present proceedings and that the
plaintiff is entitled to rely on those findings of fact
as such."

And so you see an immediate analogy with this case.
And then moving on to paragraph 17, that says:

"This really highlights the battleground between the
parties. The plaintiff wants to be able to rely upon
conclusions of fact reached by the Commission (in so far

as not overturned on appeal) ... It wants to be able to
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proceed with its claim without having to prove from
scratch that the defendants have abused their dominant
position in the United Kingdom market. On the other
hand the defendants argue that this court should neither
be assisted by or pay attention to any conclusions of
fact on these important issues arrived at elsewhere."

You see at 18 that:

"The plaintiff's arguments are founded primarily on
principles of res judicata ..."

And then:

"Alternatively the plaintiff says that it would be
an abuse of process for the defendants to deny the
correctness and applicability of the findings in those
European proceedings."

And then moving on, first of all the court deals
with the issue, the first way in which the argument was
put, and we see on page 8 the heading:

"Are proceedings before the Commission ... of such
a nature as to fit within the Mills v Cooper criteria so
as to give rise to issue estoppel?"

And the conclusion on that issue, which is not
directly on point in this case, is at paragraphs 36 to
39 and essentially the issue estoppel argument was
rejected on the basis that the claimant and defendant

were not parties to civil proceedings before the
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Commission or the European courts and we see that
explained at 36, and we see in the middle of that
paragraph:

"... since competition proceedings before the
Commission cannot be described in English terminology as
civil proceedings between the parties, it is not
possible to say that the issue estoppel arises in this
case."

So that is the first argument failed. We see the
conclusion on paragraph 39.

Then we have a section headed "A broader approach"
and what one sees when one looks through this broader
approach, so it is seen perhaps most clearly from
paragraph 52 on page 14 and paragraph 55 on page 15, is
an analysis of cases like Delimitis and Banks v
British Coal which were the basis on which article 16 of
regulation 1 of 2003 was enacted.

So article 16 of regulation 1 reflected case law,
pre-existing case law, and that case law included the
Delimitis judgment and that is all about the duty of
sincere cooperation precluding or seeking to avoid
divergent decisions and so that is the basis on which
this part of the judgment is analysed.

And then we see the section on abuse of process

which is the final way in which the point is put and
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that starts on page 20, under the heading "The
defendants are bound" just above paragraph 75, and you
see that paragraph:

"This brings me to the final way in which the
plaintiff puts its case. Even if principles of
res judicata do not apply ... it says that the
defendants are bound by the European decisions ... It
is not open to them to assert that those decisions are
wrong in any national court. This argument is not
dependent on the status of the plaintiff."

And that is an important point, because one of the
points made by the defendants in attempting to
distinguish Iberian is to say well, Iberian is a case
where the judge made findings of the very close
involvement of the claimant in the proceedings. But
what the court is saying here is that that particular
point was not a necessary point for the abuse of process
argument to run. So this argument is not dependent on
the status of the plaintiff.

"It would apply in the present proceedings even if
the plaintiff had made no complaint to the Commission
and had played no part in the European proceedings. To
use English legal terminology, for the defendants to
deny the correctness of the plaintiff's allegations of

abuse of a dominant position amounts to an abuse of
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process since it would involve a collateral attack on
binding decisions of the Commission, CFI and ECJ."

And then you see that at 78 the courts say that the
argument --

". all the arguments of public policy which have
led me to conclude that neither the plaintiff nor the
defendants can challenge the European decisions in this
case on the basis of res judicata apply with particular
force to the defendants. Whatever the position of the
plaintiff, the defendants were directly and fully
involved in the European proceedings. They were the
addressees of the ... decisions. The public policy
considerations therefore have particular force where the
defendants are concerned."

And then moving on, on to page 22, the numbering
goes a bit wrong but at the top of the page you have --
the paragraph numbering goes wrong, you have
paragraph 86, where the judge, Mr Justice Laddie, refers
directly to the Hunter case and he says -- he says there
that -- he explains what the basis for the Hunter
decision was and then further down the page at
paragraph 83, but I think it must be 89, I think there
is a misprint:

"The Hunter case was concerned with whether

a litigant could relitigate an issue determined in
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previous proceedings before a competent court to which
he was a party. In this case it can be said that the
decision of the Commission was not a decision of

a competent court, although that argument would not
apply to the decisions of the CFI and ECJ. However, in
view of the special position held by the Commission in
relation to competition issues and the public policy
considerations set out earlier in this judgment, I think
that the underlying rationale in Hunter applies here as
well. To adopt the sentiments of Jeremy Bentham [and
those sentiments are expressed in the paragraph just
above], to allow the defendants to argue afresh here all
those points that they argued and lost in the course of
eight or nine years of detailed proceedings before the
competition authorities in Europe would be absurd.

I can see no compelling reason why they should be
allowed a second bite at the cherry for the purpose of
persuading the English courts to come to a conclusion
inconsistent with that already arrived at in Europe. It
follows that in my view it would be abuse of process to
allow the defendants to mount a collateral attack on the
Commission decision in the proceedings against any party
before any national court. On this basis as well,
preliminary issues (b) and (d) are answered in the

affirmative."
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And then in the next paragraph:

"In coming to these conclusions, I have applied what
I believe are concepts of English law."

And he has said what those are, it is the principle
emanating from Hunter.

So this is in some ways a different case to the
present case. We say that the present case is
a fortiori this one because in the present case the
decision reflects admissions made, admissions made for
gain by the defendants. But the critical point that we
derive from this case is that the Hunter principle
applies to decisions of the -- can apply in principle to
decisions of the European Commission.

So —-
CHAIRMAN: Preliminary issues (b) and (d) are on page 6,

paragraph 14.

MS DEMETRIOU: Yes, that is right, so the preliminary issues

are paragraph 14 (b) and (d). And so you see the
decisions are conclusive as to the facts in the present
proceedings, that is (b), and then (d) concerns the
conclusions as to the interpretation and/or
applicability of article 86 which of course is now
article 102.

So that is all I wanted to say in opening about the

law and the applicable principles.
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I'm going to move now to take the Tribunal to the
relevant legislation concerning the settlement process,
the procedure, and before I take the Tribunal to the
documents, can I say in advance what the key
propositions are that I'm seeking to derive from the
relevant legislation.

The first is that the settlement procedure provides
for significant rewards for parties who cooperate.

The second is that the premise of the settlement
procedure is that the decision adopted by the Commission
at the end of it will reflect the parties' settlement
submissions, in other words their admissions.

The third point is that arriving at that decision
the parties' full rights of defence are guaranteed and
the fourth point is that if the settlement decision does
not accurately reflect the settlement submissions made
by the parties, there is then a procedural duty on the
Commission to put the new points or the different points
back to the parties for comment and ultimately the
settlement submissions are deemed, if the decision
adopted at the end of the process is different, are
deemed to have been withdrawn and cannot be relied on by
the Commission.

I would like to start with the relevant regulation

and for the Tribunal's note, the relevant regulation in
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consolidated form is at authorities bundle 1, tab 22.
But I'm not going to take you to the consolidated
version because I think it is helpful to look at the
recitals of the amending regulation and so the
regulation which amends the main procedural regulation
is at F8 -- sorry, authorities bundle 8.

CHAIRMAN: We have been slightly bewildered at the way
these bundles have been put together. Why on earth the
legislation is not all together in one bundle and
scattered about so you have to hop around and we have to

hop around defies any logical basis we can see.

MS DEMETRIOU: Sir, I'm not sure why they ended up in that

way.

CHAIRMAN: It is really very unhelpful.

MS DEMETRIOU: So behind tab 104 we have the main procedural

reqgulation, 773 of 2004. But the one we want to look at
is the amending regulation in the previous tab, behind
tab 103, and it is these amendments which relate to the
settlement procedure which then -- which are then made
to the regulation behind tab 104 and which then result
in the consolidated version which we have in the first
volume.
But it is helpful to look at the recitals to the

original regulation 622 of 2008, first of all we see at

recital 3 -- so before going any further, if I could
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just highlight one point in case the Tribunal hasn't
appreciated this up until now, but the general, and we
will see this from the decision, but the general way in
which settlement procedures are intended to operate is
that the settlement procedure starts before the
statement of objections stage and what then happens is
that the parties make their settlement submissions and
those are then reflected by the Commission in the
statement of objections.

Now, what happened in the present case was a bit
different because the parties asked for the settlement
procedure to be used at quite a late stage of the
proceedings, a relatively late stage, and this is an
additional fact which we rely on which makes it
particularly abusive in this case for the defendants to
seek to resile from their admissions because in this
case what happened was that the Commission was
conducting a contested investigation and had issued
a full statement of objections and when the parties
decided to invoke the settlement procedure and when they
made their settlement submissions, crucially, they had
access to the full statement of objections and also to
the entire file of Commission evidence and so this was
a case in which the defendants made their admissions,

their settlement submissions, in the knowledge of all
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the evidence, the totality of the evidence that the
Commission had on file in relation to the defendants, so
that is a factual point. We will see that in the
decision itself.

CHAIRMAN: This is true of all of them, including the

immunity applicant.

MS DEMETRIOU: Yes. So when you see recital 3, that says:

"When the Commission reflects the parties'
settlement submissions in the statement of objections
and the parties' replies confirm that the statement of
objections corresponds to the contents of their
settlement submissions, the Commission should be able to
proceed to the adoption of a decision."

So it didn't quite happen in that order in this
case, but what one sees from that recital is the idea
that the Commission case, so at this stage set out in
the statement of objections, and we will see later set
out finally in the decision, should be a case which
corresponds to the content of the admissions, of the
settlement submissions.

And then we see that reflected in recital 4, because
we see in the middle of that this recital 4 concerns the
Commission's discretion to determine which cases might
be suitable for settlement and in this regard, and we

see this in the middle of the recital, account may be



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

taken of the probability of reaching a common

understanding regarding the scope of the potential

objections with the parties involved within a reasonable

time frame.

So this is

all about reaching a common position.

Then over the page

THE CHAIRMAN: It refers to, just continuing that sentence:

in view of factors such as [the] ... extent of

contestation of the facts."

MS DEMETRIOU: Yes,

contesting the

so if the parties are vigorously

facts then the Commission is liable to

take the view that this is not a suitable case for

settlement because it may be hard to reach a common

position as to

what went on.

Then you see at (5):

Complainants will be closely associated with

settlement proceedings and be duly informed of the

nature and subj

ect matter of the procedure ..."

And then over the page we have the substantive

amendments and

the key amendment is at article 1.4:

"The following article 10a is inserted."

And that sets out the key substantive provision and

so we see there that at 10a(l):

"After the

investigation]

initiation of proceedings [of the

the Commission may set a time limit
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within which the parties may indicate ... that they are
prepared to engage in settlement discussions with a view
to possibly introducing settlement submissions."

And then at 10a(2) this is important because it sets
out the information that the Commission must provide to
parties that are interested in settling or are taking
part in settlement discussions:

"Parties taking part in settlement discussions may
be informed by the Commission of:

"(a) the objections it envisages to raise against
them"; so essentially the case.

"(b) the evidence used to determine the envisaged
objections;

"(c) non-confidential versions of any specified
accessible document listed in the case file at that
point in time, in so far as a request by the party is
justified for the purpose of enabling the party to
ascertain its position regarding a time period or any
other particular aspect of the cartel; and

"(d) the range of potential fines."

And then:

"Should settlement discussions progress, the
Commission may set a time limit within which the parties
may commit to follow the settlement procedure by

introducing settlement submissions reflecting the
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results of the settlement discussions and acknowledging
that their participation in an infringement of Article
8l ... as well as their liability."

And then:

"Before the Commission sets [that] time limit
the parties ... shall be entitled to have the
information specified in article 10a(2), first
subparagraph disclosed to them, upon request, in
a timely manner."

And what we know in this case, as I have said, is
that the particular defendants in this case got more
than the minimum that is suggested by subparagraph (2)
because they had access to the entire file and the full
statement of objections setting out the Commission's
entire case in detail.

And then at (3):

"When the statement of objections notified to the
parties reflects the contents of their settlement
submissions, the written reply to the statement of
objections by the parties concerned shall, within a time
limit set by the Commission, confirm that the statement
of objections addressed to them reflects the contents of
their settlement submissions. The [parties] may then

proceed to ..." a decision.

THE CHAIRMAN: The Commission.
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MS DEMETRIOU: Sorry, the Commission, of course.

So what we have here is again a reflection of the
premise, the underlying premise of this procedure, which
is following settlement discussions, having seen the
evidence against them or much of the evidence against
them, in this case all of the evidence against them, the
parties then make their admissions to the Commission and
the idea is that the Commission's statement of
objections will reflect those admissions, those
submissions.

And then we see at article 12 that:

"The Commission shall give the parties to whom it
addresses a statement of objections the opportunity to
develop their arguments at an oral hearing if they
[request that]."

And then at (2):

". when introducing their settlement submissions
the parties shall confirm to the Commission that they
would only require having the opportunity to develop
their arguments in oral hearing, if the statement of
objections does not reflect the content of their
settlement submissions."

So that's the regulation and I'm going to turn now
to the Commission notice on the settlement procedure

which 1s at authorities bundle 2 behind tab 26.
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It is important, in my submission, to go through
this in some degree of detail because it fleshes out the
process that is followed. Of course we assume it was
followed in this case subject to the point that I have
mentioned about the extra benefit accorded to the
defendants in this case, in the circumstances of this
case.

So paragraph 1 explains that:

"This Notice sets out the framework for rewarding
cooperation in the conduct of proceedings ... [and] the
cooperation covered by this Notice is different from the
voluntary production of evidence to trigger or advance
the Commission's investigation, which is covered by
the Leniency Notice."

And then at the end:

"Provided that the cooperation offered by an
undertaking qualifies under both ... Notices, it can be
cumulatively rewarded accordingly."

And then at paragraph 2 the premise is that parties
are prepared to acknowledge, to admit their
participation in a cartel violating article 101 of the
treaty and their liability, and then you see that in
return for that, at the end of that paragraph, the
Commission can reward that cooperation.

And then at (4) this is the point about full respect
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of the parties' rights of defence. So in this procedure
too there is full respect given to the parties' rights
of defence and we see what that means. It says:

"It follows that the rules established to conduct
the Commission proceedings to enforce article [101]
should ensure that the undertakings concerned are
afforded the opportunity effectively to make known their
views on the truth and relevance of the facts,
objections and circumstances put forward by the
Commission throughout the administrative procedure."

So that applies here in relation to settlement. And
it is important to bear that in mind when considering
some of the assertions made in very general terms by the
defendants in this case, which is that the settlement
procedure didn't allow them properly to contest the
facts. That is not what is provided for here. And of
course if they had an actual gripe about that, they
could have brought an appeal on procedural grounds to
the courts, because there are very real procedural
rights that are accorded to settling parties.

Then moving on, we have the same point that we have
already seen in the recitals to the regulation, that
when deciding whether or not to explore settlement,
account may be taken of the probability of reaching

a common understanding. So again that demonstrates that
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that is the purpose of all of this. Not imposing the
Commission's understanding on the parties, but reaching
a common understanding of what happened.

And then we have section 2.2 on page 3, which is
headed "Commencing the settlement procedure: settlement
discussions."

And so the first stage of this is that discussions
take place between parties, the settling parties and the
Commission, and as we will see in due course, in this
case the discussions took place over a very protracted
period of time. And then at 15, at the end of 15 we see
that:

"Information will be disclosed in a timely manner as
settlement discussions progress."

And that includes the evidence in the Commission's
file used to establish the objections and the potential
fine.

And then at 16:

"Such an early disclosure in the context of
settlement discussions ... will allow the parties to be
informed of the essential elements taken into account so
far, such as the facts alleged, the classification of
those facts, the gravity and duration of the alleged
cartel, the attribution of liability, the estimation of

likely fines, as well as the evidence used to establish
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the potential objections. This will enable the parties
effectively to assert their views on the potential
objections against them and will allow them to make an
informed decision on whether or not to settle. Upon
request ... the Commission services will ... grant it
access to non-confidential versions of any specified
accessible document listed in the case file ..."

And then at 17:

"When the progress made during the settlement
discussions leads to a common understanding regarding
the scope of the potential objections and the estimation
of the range of likely fines to be imposed by the
Commission and the Commission takes the preliminary view
that procedural efficiencies are likely to be achieved
in view of the progress made overall, the Commission may
grant a final time limit of at least 15 days of an
undertaking to introduce a final settlement submission."

And then we have section 2.3 headed -- sorry, 19
I should draw your attention to as well. So if the
parties choose not to make a settlement submission then
of course everything reverts back to the normal
contested procedure.

And then we have section 2.3, which is headed
"Settlement submissions". And paragraph 20 is important

because it specifies the content of the settlement
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submission and it says what it must contain and it must
contain at (a):

"An acknowledgement in clear and unequivocal terms
of the parties' liability for the infringement summarily
described as regards its object, its possible
implementation, the main facts, their legal
qualification, including the party's role and the
duration of their participation in the infringement in
accordance with the results of the settlement
discussions."

And then (b) relates to the maximum fine that they
would accept and (c) is a confirmation that they have
been sufficiently informed of the objections that the
Commission envisages raising against them and that they
have been given sufficient opportunity to make their
views known to the Commission.

So just pausing there and focusing on what we have
got so far before we turn the page, this all follows,
the making of the settlement submissions follows
a period of discussion between the Commission and the
settling parties on a bilateral basis in which they have
seen the relevant documents. In this case, they have
seen all the documents. And at which the purpose of
those discussions themselves is to reach a common

understanding of the facts, of the main facts of the
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cartel.

And it is on that basis that the settlement
submissions are made according to that common
understanding and that is why at the end of the process,
as we will come to see, there can be a high degree of
confidence that the ultimate decision will reflect those
settlement submissions, the admissions made by the
parties.

So turning the page, we have at (d):

"The parties' confirmation that, in view of the
above, they do not envisage requesting access to the
file ..."

That doesn't apply in this case because they have
already had it. And then (e) concerns the language.
And then 21:

"The acknowledgements and confirmations provided by
the parties in view of settlement constitute the
expression of their commitment to cooperate in the
expeditious handling of the case following the
settlement procedure. However, those acknowledgements
and confirmations are conditional upon the Commission
meeting their settlement request including the
anticipated maximum amount of the fine."

And then we have at 22 a protection, so:

"Settlement requests cannot be revoked unilaterally
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by the parties which have provided them unless the
Commission does not meet the settlement request by
reflecting the settlement submissions first in

a statement of objections and ultimately, in a final
decision (see in this regard points 27 and 29) [which
I'm going to come to]. The statement of objections
would be deemed to have endorsed the settlement
submissions if it reflects their contents on the issues
mentioned in point 20(a). Additionally, for a final
decision to be deemed to have reflected the settlement
submissions, it should also impose a fine which does not
exceed the maximum amount indicated therein."

And so turning that around, so making the negative
into a positive, settlement requests can be revoked
unilaterally if the Commission doesn't meet its side of
the bargain and its side of the bargain means reflecting
the settlement submissions in the decision and not doing

anything different.

MR JUSTICE FANCOURT: Does that mean reflecting them totally

or substantially? What does it mean?

MS DEMETRIOU: My Lord makes a fair point. It is not made

clear. We would say what is made clear is that they
have to be reflected -- the contents on the issues
mentioned in point 20 (a) have to be reflected and when

one goes back to 20 (a) one sees there that one is
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looking at the main facts, their legal qualification
including the parties' role and the duration of their
participation.

So we would say that the main facts which are then
relied upon as the basis for the infringement, and which
are admitted, have to be reflected accurately in the
settlement decision, and we will come on to see that if
they are not then there is an important procedural right
which is afforded to the parties because anything
additional, anything different has to be put back to
them for comment and we see that in paragraph 29.

Before that we see there is the heading "Statement
of objections and reply" and we see there that at 27, as
regards the statement of objections:

"The Commission retains the right to adopt
a statement of objections which does not reflect the
parties' settlement submission. If so, the general
provisions in Article 10(2), 12(1) and 15. (1) of
Regulation ... 773 will apply."

So in effect you go back to the procedural rights
that are then afforded under the main regulation.

"The acknowledgements provided by the parties would
be deemed to be withdrawn and could not be used in
evidence against any of the parties in the proceedings,

hence the parties concerned would no longer be bound by
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their settlement submissions and would be granted

a time-limit allowing them, upon request, to present
their defence anew, including the possibility to access
the file and to request an oral hearing."

So that is at the statement of objection stage and
then we see something very similar at paragraph 29 at
the final decision stage and this is a very key
paragraph, a very key right that is afforded to the
parties because what this says is if the Commission
adopts a final decision which departs from the parties'
settlement submissions, so we see that, departs from its
statement of objections which in turn have endorsed the
parties' settlements submissions, what happens is the
Commission, if it follows that course, has to inform the
parties and notify to them a new statement of objections
in order to allow for the exercise of their rights of
defence in accordance with the applicable general rules
of procedure.

And so in answer to my Lord's point, if there is
some material fact which affects, which is such as to
call for -- gives rise to a right of the parties to make
representations because it is a material fact which is
a fact detrimental to their position which they haven't
agreed to, then it needs to be put back to them in a new

statement of objections and then we see that the parties
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would then be entitled to have access to the file to
request an oral hearing and to reply to the statement of
objections.

The acknowledgements provided by the parties in the
settlement submissions would be deemed to have been
withdrawn and could not be used in evidence against any
of the parties to the proceedings.

So what we know about the present case is that in
the present case the Commission did not issue another
statement of objections and so we can take it from that
in our submission that the decision did indeed
accurately reflect the parties' settlement submissions.

So had the decision, the settlement decision that
the Commission finally adopted, had that decision not
reflected the settlement submissions, had it departed
from them in some way, or had it contained additional
material which is inculpatory material which had not
been the subject of the submissions, then that would
have had to have been put back to the parties in the
form of another SO. And had the Commission failed to
comply with that requirement, then we say, as with any
other procedural breach, the parties could have appealed
against that on procedural grounds.

Let's take an example where -- let's say the

decision had gone beyond the admissions of the parties
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and had included, for example, additional meetings which
the parties had not acknowledged in their settlement
decisions. Then we say the Commission would have had to
put those to parties in the additional statement of
objections, and had it failed to have done that they
could appeal to the General Court on the basis that the
sett